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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT 

) 
STEPHANIE BIEDIGER, KA YLA LAWLER ) 
ERIN OVERDEVEST, KRISTEN ) 
CORINALDESI, and LOGAN RIKER, ) 
individually and on behalf of ) 
all those similarly situated; ) 

) 
Plaintiffs, ) 

~ ) 
) 

QUINNIPIAC UNIVERSITY; ) 
) 

Defendant. ) 
) 

Case No. 3:09-CV-00621 (SRU) 

April_, 2013 

[PROPOSED] CONSENT DECREE 

This Consent Decree is made, subject to the Court's approval, between the above-

captioned Plaintiffs, individually and on behalf of the class they represent, and Defendant 

Quinnipiac University ("Quinnipiac"). 

This Consent .Decree resolves each ofthe claims stated in the Amended Complaint dated 

December 2, 2009, including (1) Title IX athletic participation, (2) Title IX athletic financial 

assistance, (3) Title IX athletic treatment and benefits, and (4) Title IX retaliation. Claims 1-3 

are class claims. Claim 4 was filed on behalfofindividual members ofthe women's volleyball 

team. 

BACKGROUND 

1. In March, 2009, Defendant Quinnipiac University announced its intent to 
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eliminate varsity women's volleyball, along with two men's teams. 

2. In April, 2009, Plaintiffs filed an action against Quinnipiac, alleging that it 

violated Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. §1681 et seq.) by failing to 

allocate an equitable number of varsity athletic participation opportunities to female students. 

3. In April, 2009, Plaintiffs filed a motion for a temporary restraining order and a 

preliminary injunction, asking the Court to enjoin Quinnipiac from eliminating the varsity 

women's volleyball team. 

4. The Court held a preliminary injunction hearing in May, 2009, after which it 

entered a preliminary injunction enjoining Quinnipiac from eliminating the varsity women's 

volleyball team. Biediger v. Quinnipiac University, 616 F.Supp.2d 277 (D.Conn. 2009). 

5. In December, 2009, Plaintiffs filed an amended complaint alleging that 

Quinnipiac violated Title IX by: 

a. Failing to allocate an equitable number of varsity athletic participation 

opportunities to female students; 

b. Failing to allocate an equitable amount of athletic financial aid to female 

students; 

c. Failing to allocate varsity athletic benefits in an equitable manner; and 

d. Discriminating against the women's varsity volleyball team in retaliation 

for their complaints about Quinnipiac's Title IX violations. 

6. The original complaint and amended complaint also asserted a claim on behalf of 

the coach of the women's volleyball team. That claim has been resolved and dismissed. 

7. 

4/25/13 

In February, 2010, Plaintiffs filed a motion for class certification with respect to 
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the Title IX athletic participation, athletic financial assistance, and athletic benefits claims 

(claims 1-3). In May, 2010, the Court granted the motion and certified a class defined as: 

All present, prospective, and future female students at 
Quinnipiac University who are harmed by and want to end 
Quinnipiac University's sex discrimination in: (1) the allocation 
of athletic participation opportunities, (2) the allocation of athletic 
financial assistance, and (3) the allocation ofbenefits provided to 
varsity athletes. 

Biediger v. Quinnipiac University, 201 0 WL 2017773 (D. Conn. 201 0). 

8. In June, 2010, the Court conducted a trial solely on Plaintiffs' first claim (athletic 

participation) and Plaintiffs' request for a permanent injunction. On July 22, 2010, the Court 

ruled in favor of Plaintiffs and entered a permanent injunction. Biediger v. Quinnipiac 

University, 728 F.Supp.2d 62 (D.Conn. 2010). 

9. Defendant filed a notice of appeal from the decision ofthe District Court. The 

parties argued the appeal in January, 2012. On August 7, 2012, the United States Court of 

Appeals for the Second Circuit affirmed the District Court. Biediger v. Quinnipiac University, 

691 F.3d 85 (2d Cir. 2012). 

10. While its appeal was pending, Defendant filed a motion to lift the injunction. The 

Court conducted a hearing on the motion in June, 2012. The Court denied the motion in an order 

and opinion issued on March 4, 2013. Biediger v. Quinnipiac University, 2013 WL 789612 (D. 

Conn. March 4, 2013). 

11. In connection with the proceedings to date, the parties have conducted extensive 

discovery, including the depositions of over 20 witnesses, the disclosure of thousands of pages of 

documents, and the preparation of multiple reports by expert witnesses. The action has been 

4/25/13 3 



Case 3:09-cv-00621-SRU   Document 307-1   Filed 04/26/13   Page 5 of 39

vigorously litigated on both sides. The parties have not yet tried the remaining claims (athletic 

aid, athletic benefits, and retaliation) in the action. 

12. Since mid-December, 2012, the parties have engaged in mediation with the 

assistance of Michael Dickstein, Esq., a professional mediator. In lieu of continuing the present 

litigation, the parties have agreed to settle all claims pursuant to the terms set forth in this decree. 

The parties make the promises and representations contained herein for good and valuable 

consideration, the adequacy of which they hereby acknowledge. 

TERMS 

I. TITLE IX POLICY 

A. Quinnipiac acknowledges its obligation under the law to comply with Title IX in 

the operation of its athletic program. Plaintiffs agree that, provided that Quinnipiac complies 

with the terms of this Consent Decree and the binding recommendations of the Referee named 

pursuant to Section V.D. herein (the "Referee"), Plaintiffs will not seek further relief against 

Quinnipiac for alleged violations of Title IX during the term of the decree. 

B. Quinnipiac shall promptly develop a Title IX nondiscrimination policy and 

grievance procedure, which it shall disseminate prominently on its website and annually in its 

student handbook, athlete handbook, and faculty/staff handbook no later than the beginning of 

the 2013-2014 academic year, in accordance with 34 C.F.R. §§106.8 and 106.9. 

C. Quinnipiac shall ensure that its Title IX coordinator is trained concerning gender 

equity in athletics and that he/she will participate in ensuring Title IX compliance in the athletic 

department. 
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H. COMPLIANCE WITH 34 C.F.R. §106.41(c)(1)-

4/25/13 

EFFECTIVE ACCOMMODATION OF ATHLETIC INTERESTS AND 
ABILITIES 

A. Continuation of Women's Varsity Athletic Teams 

1. Quinnipiac will not eliminate its women's varsity volleyball team or, 

during the term of this Consent Decree, announce any plans to eliminate 

the team. Quinnipiac will support its women's varsity volleyball team in 

the same manner that it supports other varsity sports in the same tier. 

2. Quinnipiac will not eliminate any varsity women's athletic team except as 

otherwise permitted in Section II.A.3. 

3. If Quinnipiac eliminates a women's varsity athletic team, it will replace 

the team with an NCAA championship sport team(s) that provide a 

comparable number of participation opportunities. This provision does 

not apply to women's varsity volleyball, which Quinnipiac will not 

eliminate. 

4. Quinnipiac is not required to add any additional varsity athletic teams 

during the term of this Consent Decree, except as may be required by 

Section IV herein. 

B. Women's Track & Field 

1. Beginning with the 2013-2014 academic year, Quinnipiac will authorize 

the head coach of the women's cross country and track & field teams to 

award athletic financial assistance that equals at least four ( 4) full 
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scholarships for women's cross country athletes and six (6) full 

scholarships for women's indoor/outdoor track & field athletes who focus 

on non-distance events. 

2. Quinnipiac will arrange for its outdoor track & field athletes to have 

access to the outdoor track facility at Cheshire High School (or a 

comparable outdoor track facility) throughout the academic year. The 

outdoor track & field athletes will practice at the facility on a regularly 

scheduled basis that is sufficient, in the judgment of the head coach, to 

allow the athletes to prepare adequately for competition. Quinnipiac will 

provide transportation for athletes on the track & field team to and from 

practices conducted at the outdoor track facility. Athletes will have access 

to onsite water and restrooms during practices. 

3. Quinnipiac will make its best efforts to host one outdoor track & field 

meet annually at Yale University (or a comparable facility) beginning in 

the 2013-2014 academic year. This provision does not prevent Quinnipiac 

from voluntarily hosting more than one outdoor track & field meet 

annually. 

4. By the beginning of the 2013-2014 academic year, Quinnipiac will 

upgrade one of its part-time assistant track & field coaching positions to 

full-time. During the term of the Consent Decree Quinnipiac will provide 

its women's cross country and track &field teams with the maximum 

number of paid coaches permitted by NCAA rules. 

6 
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5. Quinnipiac will make good faith efforts to expand the number of events in 

which the women's track & field athletes compete, including recruiting 

athletes who focus on non-distance events (e.g., sprints, hurdles, and 

middle-distance races) and field events. 

C. Women's Rugby 

1. Quinnipiac will upgrade the quality and condition of the rugby pitch to 

ensure that it is safe for practices and competitions. Quinnipiac will make 

good faith efforts to upgrade the quality of the rugby pitch so that it is 

level, does not contain holes, dangerous rocks, or other hazards, and is 

maintained to a quality comparable to the varsity soccer field, by the start 

of the 2013-2014 academic year. 

2. Quinnipiac's varsity women's rugby team will have exclusive use of the 

rugby pitch. 

3. Quinnipiac will authorize the head coach of the women's rugby team to 

award athletic financial assistance equaling at least nine (9) full 

scholarships by the 2013-2014 academic year. 

4. Beginning in the 2013-2014 academic year, Quinnipiac will provide one 

full-time head coach and one full-time assistant rugby coach for its 

women's rugby team. Neither of the women's rugby coaches will have 

responsibility for any men's or women's club rugby team or program or 

for any other sport or activity. 

5. Beginning in the 2013-2014 academic year, Quinnipiac will compete in at 
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least two-thirds (2/3) of its regular season games against NCAA varsity 

rugby teams (e.g., Eastern Illinois, Harvard, West Chester, Norwich) or 

Division I club rugby teams (e.g., Brown, Penn State, Princeton, Army, 

Navy). For purposes of this provision, "Division I club" is intended to 

mean the highest level of intercollegiate club competition available. In 

2014-2015 and thereafter, Quinnipiac will schedule all of its regular 

season matches against NCAA varsity and/or Division I club rugby teams 

except that Quinnipiac may schedule one regular season game each season 

with Yale University and one regular season game each season with the 

University of Connecticut, regardless of the competitive level of their 

women's rugby teams, in order to build an in-state rivalry in the sport. 

6. Women's varsity rugby athletes will have access to water and nearby 

restrooms during all practices and competitions held at Quinnipiac. 

7. Quinnipiac will make a good faith effort to promote women's rugby as a 

varsity sport and to encourage other NCAA Division I schools to sponsor 

women's rugby as a varsity sport with the goal of establishing a Division I 

varsity women's rugby athletic conference and a NCAA varsity women's 

rugby national championship. 

D. Club Teams 

If Quilmipiac sponsors or otherwise provides support to club sports teams during the term 

of this Consent Decree, it must allocate those opportunities on a gender equitable basis. 
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III. COMPLIANCE WITH 34 C.F.R. 106.37(c)
ATHLETIC FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 

A. For all women's sports for which Quinnipiac currently authorizes fewer than 50% 

of the maximum number of athletic scholarships allowed by NCAA rules, Quinnipiac will 

increase the authority of the head coach to award at least 50% of the maximum number of 

athletic scholarships allowed by NCAA rules, beginning in the 2013-2014 academic year. The 

minimum number of athletic scholarships per team required by this Section III.A and by Sections 

III.B and V.B.1.a below are listed on Schedule A attached hereto. 

B. For all women's sports for which Quinnipiac currently authorizes the head coach 

to award more than 50% of the maximum number of athletic scholarships allowed by NCAA 

rules, Quinnipiac will not decrease the coach's authority. 

C. Beginning with the 2013-2014 academic year, Quinnipiac will authorize the 

maximum number of athletic scholarships allowed by the NCAAfor all of its women's Tier 1 

sports. 

D. In addition to the foregoing, Quinnipiac will provide an additional athletic 

scholarship to the women's volleyball team for the 2014-2015 academic year (so that the team 

then has 7 full athletic scholarships) and another additional scholarship to the women's 

volleyball team for the 2015-2016 academic year (so that the team then has 8 full athletic 

scholarships). The number of scholarships authorized for the women's volleyball team will not 

be reduced before completion of all the facilities required by this Consent Decree. 

E. Quinnipiac will develop and implement a policy requiring gender-neutral 

allocation of summer, fifth-year, and other extra athletic financial aid. 
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IV. QUINNIPIAC MEN'S TEAMS 

A. During the term of this Consent Decree, Quinnipiac will not create additional 

men's sports teams unless it also creates additional women's teams that provide at least an equal 

number of athletic participation opportunities. 

B. During the term of the Consent Decree, Quinnipiac will not significantly increase 

the number of athletic scholarship awards for male athletes unless it simultaneously increases 

(beyond the requirements of this Consent Decree) the number of athletic scholarship awards for 

female athletes by at least the same number of athletic scholarships. 

C. Quinnipiac may, upon reasonable notice to Plaintiffs, seek relief from the Referee 

from the requirements of this Section IV in response to circumstances reasonably supporting the 

need for such relief, which include, by way of example: 

1. A significant increase in the proportion of full-time male undergraduate 

students; or 

2. A significant increase in the number of varsity athletic participation 

opportunities provided to female students. 

V. COMPLIANCE WITH 34 C.F.R. 106.41(c)(2)-(10)
TREATMENT AND BENEFITS 

A. Facility Improvements 

1. Quinnipiac will spend at least $5 million to improve the permanent 

athletic facilities (other than TD Bank Sports Center) used by its women's 
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varsity sports teams, including renovation and/or construction of locker 

rooms, exercise and weight training facilities, athletic training facilities, 

practice and competition facilities, and office space for head/assistant 

coaches, so that they are comparable to the facilities provided to men's 

varsity sports teams in the same tier. 

2. Quinnipiac will increase the dimensions of the women's varsity rugby 

pitch to the maximum dimensions allowed by the International Rugby 

Board. 

3. Quinnipiac will build an indoor track & field facility for practice and 

competition. The facility will meet NCAA standards for hosting indoor 

meets. 

4. Quinnipiac will build a superior practice and competition facility 

dedicated to women's field hockey that meets NCAA Division I standards 

for the sport. 

5. Quinnipiac will consult with the Referee during the planning process for 

the facility improvements described herein ("facility improvements"). The 

Referee may, at his/her discretion, consult with Plaintiffs' counsel with 

respect to the facility improvements. 

6. Within six months of the Court's approval of this Consent Decree, 

Quinnipiac will present to the Referee and Plaintiffs' counsel a projected 

schedule for completion ofthe facility improvements, which shall project 

that all of the facilities improvements will be completed by no later than 

11 
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June 30, 2018. Quinnipiac shall make good faith efforts to complete all 

facility improvements in accordance with the schedule. QU shall report to 

the Referee and Plaintiffs' counsel at such intervals as the Referee shall 

determine concerning its progress toward completion of the facilities 

improvements. 

7. The provisions ofthis Consent Decree concerning the Referee's authority 

to monitor compliance and to investigate and determine disputes, and 

concerning the Court's authority to enforce the Consent Decree, shall 

remain in effect until all of the facility improvements described in this 

Consent Decree are completed. 

B. Tiering 

The parties recognize that Quinnipiac currently treats men's and women's 

basketball and ice hockey as tier one sports (also denominated as "sports of emphasis"). 

Quinnipiac will take measures to elevate two (2) additional women's teams to tier one as 

follows: 

4/25/13 

1. Field hockey. By the beginning of2013-2014 academic year, Quinnipiac 

will provide the head coach of the field hockey team with the authority to 

award the maximum number of athletic scholarships allowed by NCAA 

rules. By the beginning ofthe 2014-2015 academic year, Quinnipiac will 

provide the field hockey team with the maximum number of coaches 

allowed by the NCAA. Quinnipiac shall also build a superior practice and 

competition facility dedicated to field hockey as previously set forth 
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herein. 

2. Additional tier one team. Within six months ofthe Court's approval of 

this Consent Decree, Quinnipiac shall identify an additional, fourth 

women's team as a tier one sport. Promptly after identifying the additional 

women's team, Quinnipiac will (a) initiate the process of hiring any 

additional coaches necessary to provide the team with the maximum 

number of coaches allowed by NCAA rules and (b) provide the head coach 

of the team with the authority to award the maximum number of athletic 

scholarships allowed by NCAA rules. Quinnipiac's obligation to provide 

this fourth women's tier one team with the maximum number of athletic 

scholarships allowed by NCAA rules shall extend until at least June 30, 

2018, notwithstanding the termination ofthe Consent Decree. Quinnipiac 

will also provide this team with a superior practice and competition 

facility based on NCAA Division I standards for the sport in accordance 

with the schedule to be presented under in Section V.A.6 above. 

3. IfQuinnipiac adds more men's teams to tier one during the term ofthe 

Consent Decree, then it must also add a proportionate number of women's 

teams or female athletes to tier one. 

C. Equivalence of Other Athletic Benefits 

1. By no later than the beginning ofthe 2013-2014 academic year, 

Quinnipiac will take (or has already taken) the following steps to improve 

the benefits provided to female athletes: 

13 



Case 3:09-cv-00621-SRU   Document 307-1   Filed 04/26/13   Page 15 of 39

4/25/13 

a. Allow all sports to play in the maximum number of competitions 

in the championship and non-championship seasons permitted by 

NCAA rules and provide the funding that allows them to do so; 

b. Allow all sports to begin practice at the earliest date permitted by 

NCAA rules; 

c. Provide athletic training coverage to all sports during the 

traditional and non-traditional seasons; 

d. Create and fill a full-time position for a head women's golf coach; 

e. Hire an additional full-time employee in academic support for 

varsity athletes; 

f. For the 2013-2014 academic year, increase the salaries of the 

coaches of the women's teams to no less than the median salaries 

in their sports in the Northeast Conference; and 

g. Quinnipiac shall request from its new athletic conference, the 

Metro Atlantic Athletic Conference ("MAAC"), the data necessary 

to determine, on a current-year basis, the median salaries of the 

coaches of women's teams in the MAAC, accounting for the 

proportion of time devoted to coaching duties. Ifthe MAAC 

provides the necessary data, then by the 2014-2015 academic year, 

Quinnipiac shall increase the salaries for the coaches of its 

women's teams if necessary to ensure that their salaries are no less 

than the median salaries of the coaches of women's teams in the 
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MAAC in the same sports. No salaries of coaches of Quinnipiac' s 

women's team shall be decreased based upon this data. 

2. Quinnipiac represents that the total estimated cost of the commitments 

made in the previous paragraph is approximately $450,000 per year. 

3. In addition to the money to be expended pursuant to Section V.C.1, and in 

addition to any other monetary commitment(s) made under this Consent 

Decree, Quinnipiac will spend up to $175,000 per year for the term of the 

Consent Decree for the purpose of ensuring equitable treatment and 

benefits for female athletes in the following areas: 

a. Equipment/supplies/uniforms 

b. Scheduling of games and practice times 

c. Transportation/travel/per diem 

d. Access to coaching and tutoring 

e. Assignment and compensation of coaches 

f. Medical/training services 

g. Housing/dining 

h. Publicity and sports information 

I. Recruiting 

J. Support services 

Expenditures pursuant to this paragraph shall be made by Quinnipiac based upon 

the recommendations ofthe Referee in accordance with Section V.D.7. 
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D. Referee 

1. The parties will agree upon, and the Court will appoint, a "Referee" who 

will have responsibility for implementing and monitoring compliance with 

Quinnipiac's obligations under this Consent Decree. Subject to his 

agreement and the Court's approval, Jeffrey H. Orleans (former 

Commissioner of the Ivy League) will serve as the Referee. 

2. Upon entry of an order approving this Consent Decree, the Referee will 

conduct a baseline review of the Quinnipiac athletic department's 

compliance with the treatment and benefits requirements ofTitle IX and 

with the requirements of the Consent Decree. 

3. The Referee will prepare a draft report of his/her initial findings and 

recommendations for all counsel within 120 days after the date of final 

Court approval of this Consent Decree. The parties will have the 

opportunity to respond to or further investigate those findings within 60 

days thereafter. The Referee will then have 30 days to prepare a final 

report with recommendations, which shall be provided to all counsel and 

the Court. 

4. In preparing his/her initial report and all subsequent reports, the Referee 

will have access to the following: 

a. 

b. 

c. 

Interviews with Plaintiffs and Class Counsel 

Interviews with coaches and assistant coaches 

Interviews with student athletes 

16 
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d. Interviews with Quinnipiac's athletics department's administrative 

staff and any Title IX administrators 

e. All reasonably necessary documents 

5. Copies of all documents provided to the Referee will be provided to Class 

Counsel as expeditiously as reasonably practical. Quinnipiac will provide 

the Referee and Class Counsel with the squad lists for each varsity team 

shortly after each team's first date of competition and by May 30 of each 

year during the Consent Decree. 

6. The Referee may conduct such investigations as s/he deems appropriate 

throughout the course of the consent decree concerning Quinnipiac's 

compliance with Title IX and with this Consent Decree. The Referee shall 

report the results of any investigation s/he conducts to the parties and the 

Court. 

7. After issuing his/her initial report and by no later than June 15 of 2014, 

2015, and 2016, the Referee shall provide an annual report to the Court 

and to counsel for the parties regarding Quinnipiac's compliance with 

Title IX and this Consent Decree. In connection with such reports, or at 

such other times as s/he deems appropriate, the Referee shall recommend 

actions to be taken by Quinnipiac to comply with this Consent Decree 

and/or to allocate the funds described in Section V.C.3. 

8. The Referee's recommendations made pursuant to subsections V.D.3 and 

V.D.7 above shall be entitled to substantial deference. Quinnipiac will 

17 
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implement the Referee's recommendations expeditiously unless it believes 

that they are umeasonable, impractical, or exceed Quinnipiac's obligations 

under the law or this Consent Decree. 

9. To the extent either party objects to any report or recommendation by the 

Referee, the party shall submit its objection in writing to the Referee and 

to counsel for the other party no more than 30 days after receipt of the 

recommendation. The Referee may then schedule any proceedings s/he 

deems appropriate, provided that the Referee shall rule on the objection 

within 60 days of receiving it. Either party may then appeal to the Court 

within 30 days ofthe Referee's ruling. 

10. The Referee may, in addition to the above, make non-binding 

recommendations at any time concerning additional actions that, in the 

Referee's opinion, Quinnipiac should consider in order to better satisfY its 

obligations under Title IX in the future. Any such recommendations shall 

be communicated to both Quinnipiac and Plaintiffs' counsel. During the 

term of the Consent Decree there shall be no proceedings before the 

Referee or the Court concerning any such non-binding recommendations 

made by the Referee. 

11. Quinnipiac agrees to pay the Referee up to $150,000 during the term of 

this Consent Decree for his/her time spent in connection with exercising 

his/her responsibilities under this Consent Decree, plus necessary and 

reasonable out-of-pocket expenses. If the Referee notifies the parties that 

18 
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he/she expects to incur more than $150,000 in time-based fees, the parties 

will promptly engage in good faith negotiations concerning the issue, and 

if they cannot resolve it between them they will seek resolution by the 

Court. 

VI. MONETARY RELIEF 

A. Quinnipiac shall pay to each of the named class representatives- Stephanie 

Biediger, Kristen Corinaldesi, Kayla Lawler, Erin Overdevest, and Logan Riker- the sum of 

$15,000 within 30 days of the Court's final approval ofthis Consent Decree, in satisfaction of 

her individual claims. As a condition of such payment, each of the named class representatives 

will execute a release of all her individual Title IX claims against Quinnipiac. 

B. Quinnipiac shall pay Class Counsel the sum of$1,900,000 for attorneys' fees and 

costs of litigation (including but not limited to expert fees) within 30 days ofthe Court's final 

approval of this Consent Decree. Quinnipiac will also contribute $50,000 to the Emanuel 

Margolis Fellowship Fund at the Quinnipiac University School of Law within the same time 

period. 

C. Quinnipiac shall pay Class Counsel's fees at up to $450 per hour, plus reasonable 

expenses including but not limited to expert fees, for drafting, obtaining approval of, and 

monitoring compliance with this Consent Decree. Quinnipiac's obligation pursuant to this 

subparagraph shall not exceed $150,000 in total for the period beginning on March 21, 2013, and 

concluding at the termination of the Consent Decree, unless otherwise authorized by the Court in 

the case of an egregious violation of this Decree by Quinnipiac or other conduct by Quinnipiac 

that unreasonably increases Plaintiffs' costs of monitoring compliance. 
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VII. CLASS NOTICE 

A. Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(e), the parties agree that notice of 

this proposed Consent Decree should be provided to all members of the class in a form approved 

by the Court. The parties propose that the Court approve the form of notice set forth in Schedule 

B hereto. 

B. Upon the Court's approval ofthe form ofthe notice, Quinnipiac shall timely 

transmit the notice by electronic mail and/or such other reasonable means as the Court may direct 

to all current female Quinnipiac students and all recruited female athletes. Quinnipiac shall also 

provide informational copies of the notice to the coaches of women's varsity teams. 

C. Quinnipiac shall be responsible for all costs of providing the notice. 

D. Upon the Court's final approval of this Consent Decree, Quinnipiac shall provide 

notice of such approval and of the availability of copies of the Decree (at a website to be 

designated by class counsel) to all current female Quinnipiac students, all recruited female 

athletes, all personnel in Quinnipiac's Department of Athletics & Recreation, and any other 

persons whom Quinnipiac expects to participate in the implementation of this Decree. During 

the term of the Decree, Quilmipiac shall inform all students, prospective students, and parents of 

students who request information concerning the Decree that that copies may be downloaded at a 

website to be designated by class counsel. 

VIII. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

A. 

4/25113 

This Consent Decree shall remain in effect through June 30, 2016, except as 
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otherwise provided herein. 

B. This Consent Decree embodies a compromise that is intended to resolve the 

pending litigation between the parties. Neither Plaintiffs nor Quinnipiac intend that this Decree 

shall have precedential effect with respect to the parties' legal positions regarding the 

requirements of Title IX, or with respect to their rights or obligations after the termination of the 

Decree. Nothing in this Decree is intended or shall be construed to limit Plaintiffs' rights to 

challenge Quinnipiac's compliance with Title IX in all respects (including, but not limited to, 

Quinnipiac's method of counting varsity athletes, and its contentions that its women's track and 

rugby programs satisfY Title IX's requirements to be counted as varsity opportunities) after the 

termination of this Consent Decree, notwithstanding the provisions of this Decree and 

notwithstanding the termination of the permanent injunction entered by the Court with respect to 

Plaintiffs' first Claim. Nothing in this Consent Decree is intended to affect Quinnipiac's rights or 

obligations with respect to its Acrobatics and Tumbling team. 

C. Plaintiffs agree that during the term of this Consent Decree, provided that 

Quinnipiac complies with the requirements ofthis Consent Decree and the Referee's binding 

recommendations, they will not challenge Quinnipiac's compliance with its obligations under 34 

C.P.R. §106.4l(c)(1)(effective accommodation), 34 C.P.R. §106.37(c)(athletic scholarships), or 

34 C.P.R. §106.41(2)-(10) (treatment and benefits). 

D. Quinnipiac waives any rights it may have to appeal any decision, order, or 

judgment rendered to date in this litigation. 

E. Quinnipiac shall not retaliate against any members of the class or any persons who 

assisted in this litigation. Quinnipiac shall inform all personnel of its Athletics & Recreation 
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Department and all employees who may be involved in the implementation of this decree that 

retaliation is illegal and will not be permitted. 

F. The parties mutually release each other from all claims and causes of action that 

were asserted, could have been asserted, or otherwise relate to this litigation, whether known or 

unknown, that arose or may arise up to the date of the Court's final approval of this Decree, 

subject only to Quinnipiac's compliance with the terms of this Consent Decree. 

G. The parties have entered into this Consent Decree voluntarily after consultation 

with counsel. The parties enter into this decree in good faith and intend it to be implemented in 

good faith in furtherance of the goals of gender equity in Quinnipiac's athletic program. 

H. This Consent Decree shall be attached to the Court's Order approving this Decree. 

The Court will retain jurisdiction over this action for purposes of enforcing the terms of this 

Consent Decree. Provided that Quinnipiac has complied with the terms hereof, Claims 1-3 of the 

Amended Complaint (the Class Claims) will be dismissed in their entirety, with prejudice, upon 

termination of the Consent Decree, and the permanent injunction entered by the Court will then 

terminate. The parties will submit a stipulation for the dismissal of Claim 4, the Title IX 

retaliation claim brought by the Individual Plaintiffs, following the Court's approval of this 

Consent Decree and Quinnipiac's payment of money damages in accordance with Section VI.A. 

hereof. 

I. If the Court declines to approve this Consent Decree, then the parties will return 

to their positions with respect to this litigation as if they had never executed this Decree. 

J. This Consent Decree may be executed in counterparts by original, facsimile, or 

electronic signature. Plaintiffs' counsel will gather all signatures, and the Consent Decree will be 
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deemed fully executed when all parties and their counsel have retumed their executed signature 

pages to Plaintiffs' counsel. 

K. This Consent Decree embodies the entire agreement between the parties 

concerning its subject matter, and may not be modified except by order of the Court or in a 

writing signed by all parties and approved by the Court. 

DATED: April z.Go 13 

4/25/13 23 
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PLAINTIFFS: 

STEPHANIE BIEDIGER Dated: -------

KA YLA LAWLER Dated:. ______ _ 

ERIN OVERDEVEST Dated: ______ _ 
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4/24113 

ACTIVE/73061.1/JORLEANS/4075788v14 

Counsel for 

25 

QUINNIPIAC UNIVERSITY, 

De~A,&d 
Edward A. Brill 
Susan D. Friedfel 
Proskauer Rose LLP 
11 Times Square 
New York, NY 10036 
(212) 969-3 000 (phone) 
(212) 969-2900 (fax) 
Ebrill@proskauer.com 
sfriedfel@proskauer.com 

Mary A. Gambardella (ct05386) 
Wiggin & Dana, LLP 
400 Atlantic Street 
P.O. Box 110325 
Stamford, CT 06911-0325 
Telephone: (203) 363-7662 
Facsimile: (203) 363-7676 
E-Mail: mgambardella@wiggin.com 

DEFENDANT QUINNIPIAC 
UNIVERSITY 

By ______________________ _ 

[Printed name: 

Its. _________________ _ 
[Title: 



Case 3:09-cv-00621-SRU   Document 307-1   Filed 04/26/13   Page 27 of 39

SCHEDULE A 



Case 3:09-cv-00621-SRU   Document 307-1   Filed 04/26/13   Page 28 of 39

SCHEDULE A 

Scholarship Minimums for Women's Teams 

Basketball (Tier One) 
Ice Hockey (Tier One) 
Field Hockey (Tier One) 
Golf 
Lacrosse 
Rugby 
Soccer 
Softball 
Tennis 
Volleyball 
XC 
Track (Indoor & Outdoor) 

15 (or NCAA maximum if higher) 
18 (or NCAA maximum ifhigher) 
12 (or NCAA maximum ifhigher) 
3 (or .5 x NCAA max if higher) 

10 
9 

10.6 
9 
5 
6 (or .5 xNCAA max ifhigher)* 
4 
6 

* Volleyball minimum increases to 8 by 2015-16 per Section III.D ofthe Consent Decree. 
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NOTICE OF PROPOSED CLASS-ACTION SETTLEMENT AND 
HEARING IN TITLE IX ATHLETICS LITIGATION 

To: All present, prospective, and future female students at Quinnipiac 
University who are harmed by and want to end Quinnipiac University's sex 

discrimination in: (1) the allocation of athletic participation opportunities; (2) 
the allocation of athletic financial assistance; and (3) the allocation of benefits 

provided to varsity athletes. 

PLEASE READ THIS NOTICE CAREFULLY. 
IT CONCERNS A LAWSUIT THAT MAY AFFECT YOUR RIGHTS. 

I. INTRODUCTION 

This notice is to inform you about a settlement and proposed Consent Decree in a Title IX class 
action lawsuit brought against Quinnipiac University ("Quinnipiac" or the "University"). The 
lawsuit is captioned or otherwise referred to as Biediger, et al v. Quinnipiac University, Civil 
Action No. 3:09-cv-00621 (SRU) (D. Conn.), and is pending in the United States District Court 
for the District of Connecticut (the "Litigation"). 

The named plaintiffs in the Litigation are current/former Quinnipiac female student athletes who 
filed the case on behalf of a class (the "Plaintiff Class") consisting of: 

All present, prospective, and future female students at Quinnipiac University 
who are harmed by and want to end Quinnipiac University's sex 
discrimination in: (1) the allocation of athletic participation opportunities; 
(2) the allocation of athletic financial assistance; and (3) the allocation of 
benefits provided to varsity athletes. 

YOU MAY BE A MEMBER OF THE PLAINTIFF CLASS IN THIS LITIGATION. 

A settlement has been reached in the Litigation. The settlement is embodied in a proposed 
Consent Decree that has been preliminarily approved by the Court. The Consent Decree must be 
approved in final· form by the Court, after notice and hearing, before it can go into effect. 

The entire Consent Decree, which sets forth all the terms of the settlement, may be downloaded 
at www.acluct.org. You can also obtain a copy by (1) visiting the office of the Clerk of the U.S. 
District Court at 915 Lafayette Boulevard, Bridgeport, CT or (2) contacting Jon Orleans 
Gborleans@pullcom.com), Kristen Galles (kgalles@comcast.net), or Sandra Staub 
( sstaub@acluct.org), counsel for Plaintiffs. 

YOU MAY HAVE A RIGHT TO BE HEARD BEFORE THE COURT CONSIDERS OR 
APPROVES THE FINAL CONSENT DECREE. 
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The Court has scheduled a Fairness Hearing for June 20, 2013 at 10:00 a.m. in the 
courtroom of the Honorable Stefan R. Underhill, Judge of the United States District Court for the 
District of Connecticut, 915 Lafayette Boulevard, Bridgeport, CT, to determine whether the 
proposed Consent Decree is fair, reasonable, and adequate, and should be finally approved. 

THIS NOTICE SUMMARIZES THE PROPOSED CONSENT DECREE 
AND ADVISES YOU ABOUT: 

• The history of the Litigation 

• A summary of the reasons for settling the Litigation rather than proceeding to trial 

• A summary of the terms of the proposed Consent Decree 

• The opportunity for you to file objections to the Consent Decree with the Court 

• The opportunity for you to appear at a Fairness Hearing on June 20, 2013, at which 
the Court will consider whether to approve the final Consent Decree 

• The binding nature of the Consent Decree on all members of the Plaintiff Class 

II. HISTORY OF THE LITIGATION. 

The Plaintiff Class in the Litigation alleges that Quinnipiac violated Title IX of the Education 
Amendments of1972, 20 U.S.C. §§ 1681-88 ("Title IX") by: 

(1) failing to allocate an equitable number of varsity athletic participation 
opportunities to female students (the "Participation Claim"); 

(2) failing to allocate an equitable amount of athletic financial aid to female students 
(the "Scholarships Claim"); and 

(3) failing to allocate varsity athletic benefits in an equitable manner (the "Benefits 
Claim"). 

The named Plaintiffs asserted these claims on behalf of the Plaintiff Class. They also asserted a 
claim on their own behalf that the University retaliated against them for complaining about Title 
IX violations (the "Retaliation Claim"). The settlement would resolve all of these claims - both 
the claims of the Plaintiff Class and the claims of the named Plaintiffs. 

Through the Participation Claim, the Plaintiff Class sought: 

(1) to require Quinnipiac to retain the women's varsity volleyball team, which 
Quinnipiac had publicly aru1ounced its intent to eliminate; 
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(2) to require Quinnipiac to add varsity athletic participation opportunities for 
women until it achieves compliance with Title IX's equal participation 
requirements; and 

(3) to prohibit Quinnipiac from cutting any other women's varsity programs unless 
and until Quinnipiac satisfies Title IX's participation requirements. 

Through the Scholarship Claim, the Plaintiff Class sought to require Quinnipiac to comply with 
Title IX by allocating more athletic financial aid to female athletes. 

Through the Benefits Claim, the Plaintiff Class sought to require Quinnipiac to comply with 
Title IX by providing its female and male varsity athletes with the following benefits of athletic 
participation on an equitable basis: 

(1) Equipment, supplies, & uniforms; 
(2) Scheduling of games and practice times 
(3) Transportation/travel/per diem 
(4) Access to coaching and tutoring 
(5) Assignment and compensation of coaches 
(6) Medical/training services 
(7) Housing/dining 
(8) Publicity and sports information 
(9) Recruiting 
(1 0) Support services 

Quinnipiac argued in its defense in the Litigation that it has complied with Title IX by providing 
female athletes with an equitable share of varsity athletic participation opportunities, 
scholarships, and varsity benefits. Quinnipiac denies that it retaliated against the named 
plaintiffs. 

The Plaintiffs filed their initial complaint in April, 2009, along with a motion for temporary 
restraining order and preliminary injunction on the Participation Claim to prevent the elimination 
of the women's volleyball program. The Court granted the preliminary injunction in July, 2009, 
and ordered Quinnipiac to retain the volleyball program and all other women's teams. 

In December, 2009, the Plaintiffs filed an amended complaint that added the Scholarship Claim 
and the Benefits Claim. On May 20, 2010, the Court certified the Participation, Scholarship, and 
Benefits Claims as a class action, defining the Plaintiff Class as: 

04/24/2013 

All present, prospective, and future female students at Quinnipiac University 
who are harmed by and want to end Quinnipiac University's sex 
discrimination in: (I) the allocation of athletic participation opportunities; 
(2) the allocation of athletic financial assistance; and (3) the allocation of 
benefits provided to varsity athletes. 
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The Court appointed plaintiffs Stephanie Biediger, Kristen Corinaldesi, Kayla Lawler, Erin 
Overdevest, and Logan Riker as representatives of the class. The Court appointed Jonathan 
Orleans and Alex Hernandez of Pullman & Comley LLC, Kristen Galles of Equity Legal, and 
David McGuire ofthe ACLU Foundation of Connecticut as the attorneys for the Plaintiff Class. 

In July, 2010, the Court entered a permanent injunction that ordered Quinnipiac to retain the 
volleyball program and to submit a plan to come into compliance with Title IX' s . athletic 
participation requirements. In August, 2012, the United States Court of Appeals for the Second 
Circuit affirmed the District Court's July, 2010, order. 

Quinnipiac submitted a compliance plan as directed by the court and, pursuant to the plan, 
Quinnipiac added women's varsity golf and rugby teams and expanded its women's track 
program. The Court directed the University to file a motion to lift the injunction when it 
believed it had achieved compliance with the participation requirements of Title IX. 

In December, 2011, Quinnipiac filed a motion to lift the permanent injunction relating to the 
Participation Claim. The Court conducted a trial on the motion in June, 2012. On March 4, 
2013, the Court issued an order denying the motion and keeping the injunction in place. 

The Court has not yet conducted a trial on the Scholarship Claim, the Benefits Claim, or the 
Retaliation Claim. · 

III. REASONS FOR THE SETTLEMENT 

The case has been litigated vigorously by both sides but, despite the significant expenditures of 
money and time by the parties and their counsel, the Scholarship Claim, the Benefits Claim, and 
the Retaliation Claim have not yet been tried. Quinnipiac maintains that it is not in violation of 
Title IX with respect to scholarships or varsity athletic benefits and denies that it retaliated 
against the plaintiffs; the plaintiffs contend that the University is in violation of the statute and 
that they were subjected to retaliatory conduct. Considerable additional resources would be 
expended by both sides to prepare and try these cla,ims. 

Both sides recognize the uncertainties of litigation, and the parties agree that it would be 
preferable to devo.te the University's resources to the improvement of athletic opportunities for 
female students rather than to continued litigation. 

Counsel for Quinnipiac and the Plaintiff Class have engaged in extensive negotiations, which 
were mediated by Michael Dickstein, Esq., a professional mediator. The negotiations culminated 
in a signed Memorandum of Understanding, which has been embodied in the proposed Consent 
Decree. Class counsel believe that the terms and conditions of the proposed Consent Decree are 
fair, reasonable, and in the best interests of the class. In reaching this conclusion, class counsel 
have analyzed the benefits of the Consent Decree, the possible outcomes of further litigation, and 
the expense and length of continued proceedings necessary to prosecute the remaining claims 
through trial and possible appeals. 
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IV. SUMMARY OF THE PROPOSED CONSENT DECREE 

This section summarizes the principal terms of the proposed Consent Decree. It does not include 
all of the terms. You should read the entire Consent Decree to ensure that it protects your rights 
and interests. 

Title IX Policy 

• Quinnipiac will promptly develop and disseminate a Title IX nondiscrimination and 
grievance policy. 

• Quinnipiac will ensure that its Title IX coordinator is trained concerning gender equity in 
athletics and that he/she will participate in ensuring gender equity in the athletics 
department. 

Participation Claims 

• Quinnipiac will not eliminate its women's volleyball team during the term of the Consent 
Decree. 

• Quinnipiac will not eliminate any other women's varsity athletic team during the term of 
the Consent Decree unless it replaces the team with a team in an NCAA championship 
sport that provides a comparable number of participation opportunities. 

• Quinnipiac will enhance the women's track and field teams by: authorizing additional 
scholarships for athletes who focus on non-distance events; providing the maximum 
number of paid full-time coaches allowed by NCAA rules; making good faith efforts to 
expand the number of events in which women's track and field athletes compete; and 
providing regular access and transportation to an adequate facility for outdoor track and 
field practices. 

• Quinnipiac will enhance the women's rugby team by: authorizing additional scholarships; 
engaging a full-time assistant coach; upgrading the quality and condition of the field 
which will be dedicated to exclusive use of the women's rugby team; scheduling most 
matches against varsity or upper-level club teams; and making good faith efforts to 
promote rugby as a varsity sport with the goal of establishing a Division I varsity 
women's rugby athletic conference. 

• Quinnipiac will not add any new men's teams during the term of the Consent Decree 
unless it also adds additional women's teams with a comparable number of 
opportunities. 
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Scholarship Claims 

Quinnipiac will authorize additional scholarships for several of its women's teams. In 
particular: 

• Quinnipiac will authorize the maximum number of scholarships permitted by NCAA 
rules for all 
of its women's "tier one" teams, and will authorize at least 50% ofthe maximum number 
of scholarships permitted by NCAA rules for all of its other women's varsity teams. 

• Quinnipiac will not decrease the number of scholarships authorized for any women's 
varsity team. 

• Quinnipiac will also authorize additional scholarships for the track and field and rugby 
teams, and for the women's volleyball team. By the 2015-16 academic year the 
volleyball team will have 8 scholarships. 

• Quinnipiac will not add more athletic scholarships for its men's teams unless it also adds 
a comparable number of athletic scholarships for its women's teams. 

Treatment and Benefits Claims 

A. Facilities 

• Quinnipiac will make a number of major improvements to athletics facilities, as indicated 
below. It is expected that the facility improvements and new construction will take 
about five years to complete. 

• Quinnipiac will spend at least $5 million to improve the permanent athletic facilities used 
by its women's varsity sports teams, including renovating and/or construction of locker 
rooms, exercise and weight training facilities, and other facilities, so that they are 
comparable to the facilities provided to men's varsity teams in the same tier. 

• Quinnipiac will construct an indoor track and field facility for practice and competition. 

• Quinnipiac will provide its track athletes with access to an outdoor track & field facility 
and will provide transportation to and from that facility. 

• Quinnipiac will build a superior practice and competition facility dedicated to women's 
field hockey. 

• Quinnipiac will increase the dimensions of the varsity rugby pitch to the maximum 
dimensions allowed by International Rugby Board. 
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B. Tiering 

• Quinnipiac will elevate women's field hockey to "tier one" status by the beginning of the 
2013-14 academic year, and will elevate a fourth women's sport to tier one status within 
six months of the Court's approval of the Consent Decree. All tier one teams will have 
the maximum number of scholarships, will have the maximum number of paid coaches, 
and will schedule the maximum number of competitions allowed by NCAA rules. They 
will also practice and compete at facilities of superior quality. 

• Quinnipiac will not add more men's teams to tier one during the term of the Consent 
Decree unless it also adds a proportionate number of women's teams or female athletes 
to tier one. 

C. Other Benefits 

• Quinnipiac will spend approximately $450,000 to improve benefits for female athletes by 
the 2013-14 academic year including: 

providing the maximum number of competitive opportunities permitted by NCAA 
rules during both traditional and nontraditional seasons; 

allowing all teams to begin practice at the earliest date permitted by NCAA rules; 

providing athletic training coverage for all sports during both traditional and non
traditional seasons; 

increasing academic support; 

increasing coaching salaries. 

• Quinnipiac will spend up to an additional $175,000 annually for benefits to female 
athletes in accordance with the recommendations of the Referee designated under the 
Consent Decree. 

General Provisions 

• The Court will appoint a "Referee" to oversee the implementation of the decree and to 
monitor compliance. Quinnipiac will provide information and reports to plaintiffs' 
counsel and the Refere~ on a regular basis. The Referee will have authority to receive 
and investigate complaints concerning Quinnipiac' s compliance with Title IX and the 
Consent Decree. The parties have jointly proposed that Jeffrey H. Orleans, former 
Commissioner of the Ivy League, be appointed as the Referee. 

• The Court will retain jurisdiction over the lawsuit for the duration ofthe Consent Decree. 
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• Most provisions of the Consent Decree will be in effect for three years. 

e The terms of the Consent Decree do not apply to the Acrobatics and Tumbling Team. 

Payment of Attorney Fees and Expenses 

• Quinnipiac will pay class counsel $1,900,000 for attorneys' fees and costs of litigation, 
and in addition will contribute $50,000 to the Emanuel Margolis Fellowship Fund at the 
Quinnipiac University School of Law. (The Margolis Fellowship supports a Quinnipiac 
law student to work at the ACLU of Connecticut.) 

Payments to Named Plaintiffs 

e Quinnipiac will pay each named Plaintiff $15,000 in satisfaction of her individual claims. 

V. YOUR OPPORTUNITY TO OBJECT AND/OR APPEAR AT THE FAIRNESS 
HEARING 

AS A CLASS MEMBER, YOU HAVE THREE OPTIONS: 

(1) if you are satisfied with the settlement, you do not have to do anything, but you 
will be bound by the terms and conditions of the Consent Decree if the Court 
approves it; 

(2) if you are satisfied with the settlement and wish to submit comments in favor of it, 
you may do so; or 

(3) if you object to the settlement or any provisions in it, you may submit written 
objections or appear at the Fairness Hearing on June 20, 2013. 
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If you wish to comment on or file objections to the Consent Decree, then you (or an attorney on 
your behalf) must submit your comments or objections in writing to: 

with copies to: 

Robin Tabora 
Clerk of the Court 
United States District Court 
141 Church Street 
New Haven, CT 06510 

Jonathan B. Orleans Edward A. Brill 
Pullman & Comley, LLC Proskauer Rose LLP 
850 Main St., P.O. Box 7006 11 Times Square 
Bridgeport, CT 06601-7 006 New York, NY 1 003 6 
Telephone: (203) 330-2000 Telephone: (212) 969-3000 
Facsimile: (203) 576-8888 Facsimile: (212) 969-2900 
Email: jborleans@pullcom.com Email: ebrill@proskauer.com 

All comments and objections must be in writing and must be received by the Clerk of the 
Court on or before June 5, 2013. 

All objections· must state the name and docket number of the Litigation, which are: Stephanie 
Biediger, et al v. Quinnipiac University, Civil Action No. 3:09-cv-00621 (SRU). Objections 
filed by attorneys should be filed pursuant to the Electronic Case Filing Procedures for the 
District of Connecticut, which are available online at http://wwW-.ctd.uscourts.gov/cmecf-notices
instructions-O. 

If you choose to appear at the Fairness Hearing, you may do so either in person or through an 
attorney. If you wish to appear and be heard at the Fairness Hearing in person or through your 
own attorney, you or your attorney must notify (1) Robin Tabora, Clerk of the Court, United 
States District Court, 141 Church Street, New Haven, CT 06510 and (2) the lawyers named 
above, in writing, by June 5, 2013. Requests by attorneys should be filed pursuant to the 
Electronic Case Filing Procedures for the District of Connecticut, which are available online at 
http://www.ctd.uscourts.gov/cmecf-notices-instructions-O. 

VI. BINDING EFFECT/RELEASES 

The proposed Consent Decree, if finally approved by the Court, will bind all members of the 
class. As a result, any person who is a member of the Plaintiff Class will be barred from seeking 
relief for claims relating to Quinnipiac's provision of athletic opportunities for its female 
students, provision of athletic financial aid for its female students, or provision of varsity athletic 
benefits for its female students during the term of the Consent Decree. 

VII. NO OPT -OUTS 

You may not "opt out" of the provisions of the Consent Decree. You may, however, voice 
objections to the Consent Decree as discussed above. 
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IX. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

Unless otherwise ordered by the Court, any class members who do not make known their 
objections or opposition to the Consent Decree in the manner described above shall be deemed to 
have waived all objections and opposition to the fairness, reasonableness, and adequacy of the 
Consent Decree and any other matters pertaining to the claims asserted in the Litigation. 

This Notice is a summary and does not describe all of the details of the proposed Consent 
Decree. The proposed Consent Decree, and all other papers filed in the Litigation, are available 
for inspection in the office of the Clerk, United States District Court, 915 Lafayette Boulevard, 
Bridgeport, CT 06604. The documents are also available through the PACER System. 

Copies. of this notice and of the proposed Consent Decree are available at www.acluct.org. If 
you have additional questions, you may contact class counsel Jonathan Orleans (203 330 2000; 
jborleans@pullcom.com), Kristen Galles (703 683 4491 ; kgalles@comcast.net), or Sandra 
Staub (860 471 8471 ; sstauf@acluct.org). 

PLEASE DO NOT CONTACT THE JUDGE DIRECTLY ABOUT THE SETTLEMENT, 
THE PROPOSED CONSENT DECREE, OR THIS NOTICE. 

ACTIVE/73061.2/JORLEANS/411 0665vl 
04/24/2013 
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